THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court Of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Honorable S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

---

Case No. 16-ALJ-17-0221-CC  
Case No. 17-ALJ-17-0113-CC  
Appellate Case No. 2017-002568

---

**RECEIVED**  
MAY 21 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

South Carolina Department of Revenue .....Appellant,

v.

Bi-Lo, LLC, d/b/a Bi-Lo #5612 .....Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Elisabeth W. Shields (Bar No. 100784)  
Counsel for Litigation  
Sean G. Ryan (Bar No. 76585)  
Managing Counsel for Litigation  
Jason P. Luther (Bar No. 78021)  
General Counsel for Litigation  
P.O. Box 12265  
Columbia, SC 29211-9979

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL**

DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR BY RELYING ON NON-MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES TO JUSTIFY A DEPARTURE FROM THE PENALTIES IMPOSED BY TITLE 61 AND THE DEPARTMENT'S PENALTY GUIDELINES, WHEN THE RECORD EVIDENCE SUPPORTED A FORTY-FIVE (45) DAY SUSPENSION AND REVOCATION OF THE RESPONDENT'S BEER AND WINE PERMIT AS REQUIRED BY THE PENALTY GUIDELINES?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter came before the Administrative Law Court (ALC) in accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 1-23-310 et seq. (2005 & Supp. 2015) for a contested case hearing. Respondent, Bi-Lo, LLC, d/b/a Bi-Lo Store #5612 (Respondent/Bi-Lo), filed for a contested case hearing with the ALC on June 30, 2016, in case number 16-ALJ-17-0221-CC, to challenge a Department Determination issued by the South Carolina Department of Revenue (Department/Appellant) on June 6, 2016. (R. p. 001, lines 14-16, p. 003, lines 4-6, pp. 011-015; Order pp. 1:14-16, 3:4-6). In the Department Determination, the Department sought a forty-five (45) day suspension of the Respondent's seven-day off-premises beer and wine permit (Permit) for a third violation of South Carolina Regulation 7-200.4 by selling or permitting the sale of beer to a person under the age of twenty-one. (R. p. 001, lines 19-23, pp. 011-015; Order p. 1:19-23). Respondent also filed for a contested case hearing with the ALC on April 24, 2017, in case number 17-ALJ-17-0113-CC, to challenge a Department Determination issued by the Department on April 6, 2017, wherein the Department sought the revocation of the Respondent's Permit for a fourth violation of South Carolina Regulation 7-200.4 by selling or permitting the sale of beer to a person under the age of twenty-one. (R. p. 001, lines 14-17, 19-22, 24-25, pp. 016-020; Order p. 1:14-17, 19-22, 24-25).

The parties filed Stipulations of Fact under both case numbers on October 18, 2017, wherein the Respondent stipulated to committing the violations at issue (discussed more fully below). (R. p. 001, lines 30-31, pp. 112-117; Order p. 1:30-31; Stipulations of Fact for Case No. 16-ALJ-17-0221-CC; Stipulations of Fact for Case No. 17-ALJ-17-0113-CC). On November 2, 2017, the ALC held a hearing on the merits for both cases. (R. p. 001, lines 26-27; Order p. 1:26-27). While the cases were not consolidated, the ALC issued a joint Final Order and Decision

(Order) governing both cases. (R. p. 001, lines 17-18; Order p. 1:17-18). The ALC issued the Order on November 21, 2017, finding that the Department met its burden of proof that the violations were committed and, in that regard, the Department Determinations should be upheld. (R. p. 009, lines 4-6; Order p. 9:4-6). Based on concerns related to the economic impact that would be suffered by Respondent, as discussed in more detail herein, the ALC reduced the proposed forty-five (45) day suspension and instead issued a one thousand (\$1,000.00) dollar fine and a seven (7) day suspension of the Respondent's Permit for the third violation. (R. p. 009, lines 7-9; Order p. 9:7-9). The ALC also reduced the proposed revocation of the Respondent's permit and instead issued a two thousand (\$2,000.00) dollar fine and a ten (10) day suspension of the Respondent's Permit for the fourth violation. (R. p. 009, lines 10-12; Order p. 9:10-12). In a footnote, the ALC provided that the seven (7) day and the ten (10) day suspensions were to run consecutively, for a continuous seventeen (17) day suspension period. (R. p. 009, footnote 5; Order p. 9:footnote). The Department filed its appeal of the ALC's decision to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on December 20, 2017.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

During the period of 2014 through 2016, State Law Enforcement Division (SLED) issued administrative violations to the Respondent for four (4) instances of selling beer to an underage person. (R. p. 002, lines 20-22, 26-28, p. 003, line 31—p. 004, line 2, 9-12; Order pp. 2:20-22, 26-28, 3:31-4:2, 9-12). The dates for those violations are as follows: February 26, 2014; December 22, 2015; February 5, 2016; and August 26, 2016. (R. p. 002, lines 6, 26-28, p. 003, lines 8-9; Order pp. 2:6, 26-28, 3:8-9). At issue in this appeal are the Respondent's third and fourth violations. (R. p. 002, lines 27-28, p. 002, lines 10-12; Order pp. 2:27-28, 4:10-12).

On February 5, 2016, the Respondent sold beer to an Undercover Cooperating Individual (UCI), who was assisting SLED in an undercover investigation. (R. p. 002, lines 6-17, p. 112, lines 17-28; Order p. 2:6-17). On that day, the UCI approached Respondent's employee with a beer and her State issued driver's license, which indicated that the UCI was only nineteen (19) years old at the time. (R. p. 002, lines 10-17, p. 112, lines 25-28; Order p. 2:10-17). The Respondent's employee reviewed the UCI's State issued driver's license, but then entered in an incorrect date of birth in the cash register system in order to sell the beer to the UCI. (R. p. 002, lines 14-17, p. 037, line 22—p. 038, line 1; Order p. 2:14-17; Tr. pp. 17:22-18-1).

On August 26, 2016, just six (6) months later, the Respondent sold beer to another UCI, who was also nineteen (19) years old. (R. p. 003, lines 8-9, 15-23, p. 115, lines 17-30; Order p. 3:8-9, 15-23). On this date, the UCI approached Respondent's employee to purchase a beer, at which time Respondent's employee entered the information from the UCI's identification into the cash register. (R. p. 003, lines 15-18, p. 115, lines 23-26; Order p. 3:15-18). At that point, the register requested an override in order to complete the sale. (R. p. 003, lines 18-19, p. 038, line 18—p. 039, line 1, p. 115, lines 26-27; Order. p. 3:18-19; Tr. pp. 18:18-19:1). The employee's supervisor, a service center associate for Respondent, then came to the cash register and, without checking the UCI's identification, entered an override code to allow the sale. (R. p. 003, lines 19-20, p. 039, lines 6-7, p. 115, lines 27-28; Order p. 3:19-20; Tr. p. 19:6-7).

SLED issued administrative violations to Respondent after both of these sales, pursuant to Regulation 7-200.4 for permitting the sale of beer to a person under the age of twenty-one. (R. p. 002, lines 20-22, 003, line 31—p. 004, line 2, p. 112, lines 29-33, p. 115, lines 33-35; Order pp. 2:20-22, 3:31-4:2). These sales constitute a third and fourth violation within a three (3) year period under Respondent's Permit for permitting the sale of beer to a person under the age of twenty-one.

(R. p. 002, lines 27-28, p. 004, lines 10-12, p. 113, lines 1-3, p. 116, lines 1-3; Order p. 2:27-28, 4:10-12).

South Carolina Revenue Procedure #13-2 establishes Alcoholic Beverage Licensing violation guidelines (Penalty Guidelines). (R. p. 007, lines 1-2, pp. 138-143; Order p. 7:1-2). Pursuant to these guidelines, a third sale of beer or wine to an underage person is subject to a forty-five (45) day suspension and a fourth sale of beer or wine to an underage person is subject to the revocation of a permit. (R. p. 006, line 31—p. 007, line 6, p. 140; Order pp. 6:31-7:6). In accordance with the Penalty Guidelines, the Department sought a forty-five (45) day suspension of the Respondent's Permit for the third violation and a revocation of the Respondent's Permit for the fourth violation. (R. p. 001, lines 23-25, p. 003, line 4, p. 004, line 17, p. 014, lines 21-31, p. 019, lines 20-30; Order pp. 1:23-25, 3:4, 4:17).

While the Respondent disputed the penalties imposed by the Penalty Guidelines, it admitted at trial that, even though it has received four (4) administrative violations for selling beer to an underage person within the last three (3) years, it has not instituted any new policies or procedures to better ensure compliance with the law. (R. p. 005, lines 13-15, p. 051, lines 11-22, p. 052, lines 5-13; Order p. 5:13-15; Tr. pp. 31:11-22, 32:5-13). Instead, the Respondent claimed it simply tried to reinforce its prior educational training, policies, and procedures. (R. p. 004, lines 24-29, p. 005, lines 6-7, p. 051, lines 21-22; Order pp. 4:24-29; 5:6-7; Tr. p. 31:21-22). The Respondent did install new systems into the cash registers in 2015 in an effort to prevent underage sales. (R. p. 005, lines 8-11, p. 082, lines 9-13; Order p. 5:8-11; Tr. p. 62:9-13). The Respondent testified that the new register systems prevent an employee from entering in a date of birth in order to override the system. (R. p. 005, lines 8-12, p. 080, line 14—p. 081, line 1; Tr. pp. 60:14-61:1, Order p. 5:8-12). The Respondent's claim that its new system would prevent employees from

overriding the system is contradicted by the February 5, 2016 violation, where the Respondent's employee overrode the system and allowed the sale of beer to an underage person. (R. p. 037, line 22—p. 038, line 1, p. 080, line 24—p. 081, line 1; Tr. pp. 17:22-18:1, 60:24-61:1).

In further disputing the penalties pursuant to the Penalty Guidelines, the Respondent testified that the imposition of such penalties would have a negative impact on the community as well as a negative impact on its revenue. (R. p. 061, line 17—p. 065, line 22, p. 091, lines 14-15, p. 092, line 25; Tr. pp. 41:17-45:22, 71:14-15, 72:25). Regarding the potential impact on its revenue, the Respondent testified at trial that its total gross sales are approximately \$230,000.00 a week, almost \$1 million a month. (R. p. 055, line 23—p. 056, line 2; Tr. pp. 35:23-36:2). However, the Respondent further testified that, out of that \$1 million monthly figure, less than 5% is attributable to the sale of beer or wine and it would only lose approximately 2% of its sales if the Permit were suspended or revoked. (R. p. 055, lines 16-22, p. 056, lines 3-7, p. 062, lines 5-14; Tr. pp. 35:16-22, 36:3-7, 42:5-14).

## ARGUMENT

In an appeal from the decision of an administrative agency, the Administrative Procedures Act provides the appropriate standard of review. Olson v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 379 S.C. 57, 63, 663 S.E.2d 497, 500-501 (Ct. App. 2008); Turner v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 377 S.C. 540, 544, 661 S.E.2d 118, 120 (Ct. App. 2008); Clark v. Aiken County Gov't, 366 S.C. 102, 107, 620 S.E.2d 99, 101 (Ct. App. 2005). S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2015) provides the applicable standard:

The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the

[Appellant] have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

As will be explained more fully herein, the ALC abused its discretion when it ordered penalties that are substantially lower than the penalties sought by the Department. The ALC's drastic reduction in the penalties is an abuse of discretion because such reduction is based upon improper consideration of non-mitigating, irrelevant circumstances. The penalties issued by the ALC were clearly erroneous in light of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence recognized by the ALC in its Order. In reducing the penalties sought by the Department, the ALC failed to give the proper deference to the Department's construction of the laws it is charged to administer and enforce. Furthermore, the ALC ignored the Department's long-standing administrative practice. Therefore, this Court should reverse the ALC's decision and impose the penalties sought by the Department.

**THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED BY IMPROPERLY RELYING ON NON-MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES TO JUSTIFY A DEPARTURE FROM THE PENALTIES IMPOSED BY TITLE 61 AND THE DEPARTMENT'S PENALTY GUIDELINES, WHEN THE RECORD EVIDENCE SUPPORTED A FORTY-FIVE (45) DAY SUSPENSION AND REVOCATION OF THE RESPONDENT'S BEER AND WINE PERMIT AS REQUIRED BY THE PENALTY GUIDELINES.**

- A. The Substantial Evidence On The Record, The Applicable Law, And The Department's Construction Of Such Laws Support The Suspension And Revocation Of The Respondent's Permit.**

The Respondent stipulated to committing a third and fourth violation on its Permit for

permitting the sale of beer to an underage person within a three (3) year period. (R. p. 001, lines 30-31, p. 004, lines 21-23, p. 113, lines 12-13, p. 116, lines 11-12; Order p. 1; Stipulations of Fact for Case No. 16-ALJ-17-0221-CC; Stipulations of Fact for Case No. 17-ALJ-17-0113-CC). S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580 and S.C. Regs. 7-200.4 provide that the violation of permitting an underage sale is sufficient grounds for the Department to suspend or revoke a permit or license issued by the Department. See S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580 (Supp. 2016) and S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 7-200.4 (Supp. 2016). The Department's construction of these laws, set forth in its Penalty Guidelines, and its long-standing administrative practices support the imposition of a suspension or a revocation of a permit or license when an underage sale is permitted. Despite the Department's long-standing administrative practices, the ALC ignored the Department's practice and ordered a significantly reduced penalty not appropriate for the two violations at issue.

- i. Under South Carolina law, selling beer or wine to an underage person is grounds for suspension or revocation of a permit issued by the Department.

The Department is vested with the administration and regulation of the sale of beer, wine, and liquor in South Carolina. S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-20 (2009). More specifically, the Department

...is the sole and exclusive authority empowered to regulate the operation of all locations authorized to sell beer, wine, or alcoholic liquors . . . and occupies the entire field of beer, wine, and liquor regulation except as it relates to hours of operation more restrictive than those set forth in this title.

S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-80 (2009). Section 61-4-580 provides that “[n]o holder of a permit authorizing the sale of beer or wine or a servant, agent, or employee of the permittee may knowingly commit any of the following acts upon the licensed premises covered by the holder’s permit: (1) sell beer or wine to a person under twenty-one years of age . . . .” § 61-4-580(1). “A violation of any provision of this section is a ground for the revocation or suspension of the holder’s permit.” Id. The South Carolina General Assembly explicitly empowered the Department

with the authority to promulgate regulations for the sale of beer within the State. S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-60(6) (2009). Pursuant to that authority, the Department promulgated Regulation 7-200.4, which provides:

To permit or knowingly allow a person under twenty-one year [sic] of age to purchase or possess or consume alcoholic liquors, beer or wine in or on a licensed place of business which holds a license or permit issued by the Department is prohibited and constitutes a violation against the license or permit.

Reg. 7-200.4. Regulation 7-200.4 further provides that “[s]uch violation shall be sufficient cause to suspend or revoke the license or permit by the Department.” *Id.* However, the Department may, in its discretion, impose a monetary penalty upon the holder of a beer or wine permit in lieu of suspension or revocation for violations of Chapter 4 in Title 61 or for a violation of any regulation pertaining to beer or wine. S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-250 (2009).

The plain reading of these statutes, when read collectively, demonstrates that the default penalty for permitting the sale of beer to a person under the age of twenty-one is suspension or revocation of the permit, but that the Department, in its discretion, may issue a monetary fine in lieu of suspension or revocation. Based on this, it is within the statutory authority of the Department to seek a suspension or revocation of a permit for any violation of permitting an underage sale. However, when assessing a penalty, the Department aims for deterrence rather than punishment. See South Carolina Dep’t of Revenue v. Meenaxi, Inc., 417 S.C. 639, 662, 790 S.E.2d 792, 804 (Ct. App. 2016). With deterrence of underage sales as the Department’s ultimate goal, the Department established guidelines as to when the Department would seek a suspension or revocation of a permit and when it would seek a monetary fine in lieu of a suspension or revocation. Those guidelines are found in S.C. Rev. Proc. #13-2, the Department’s Penalty Guidelines.

- ii. The Department established Penalty Guidelines, which provide a graduated scale of penalties in an effort to deter underage sales of alcohol.

The Department's administrative penalties for violations of the alcohol beverage licensing laws are set forth in S.C. Rev. Proc. #13-2, entitled "Penalty Guidelines for ABL [Alcohol Beverage Licensing] Violations" (Penalty Guidelines). These Penalty Guidelines provide a graduated scale of penalties based on the number of violations against the particular permit or license as well as the type of violation. The Penalty Guidelines provide graduated scales of penalties for beer, wine, and alcoholic liquors (collectively, herein, referred to as "alcohol"). Regarding violations for the sale of beer or wine to a person under the age of twenty-one by the holder of a retail beer and wine permit, the penalty for a first violation is a five hundred (\$500.00) dollar fine, the penalty for a second violation is a one-thousand (\$1,000.00) dollar fine, the penalty for a third violation is a forty-five (45) day suspension, and the penalty for a fourth violation is revocation of the permit. S.C. Rev. Proc. #13-2. In calculating the number of violations at the licensed location, the Department looks back three (3) years from the date of the most recent violation. Id.

The plain reading of section 61-4-580 and Regulation 7-200.4 provides that the Department may seek a suspension or revocation of the permit no matter how many violations the permit holder may have committed previously. See § 61-4-580 and Reg. 7-200.4. Pursuant to section 61-4-580 and Regulation 7-200.4, a first violation for permitting the sale of beer to someone under the age of twenty-one is sufficient grounds for suspension or revocation. Id. However, the Department understands that a violation can still occur despite a permit holder's best efforts. Accordingly, in an effort to deter future underage sales and not to necessarily punish permit holders, the Department has exercised its discretion in seeking monetary fines in lieu of suspension or revocation for the first and second violation under a retail beer and wine permit. See S.C. Rev.

Proc. #13-2. The Department utilizes fines for a first and second violation in an effort to deter future violations while allowing the permit holder the opportunity to make any necessary changes to its policies and procedures in an effort to prevent future violations. However, as the Penalty Guidelines demonstrate, when a permit holder is repeatedly committing violations and failing to make any attempts to remedy the issue, the Department will default to the language in § 61-4-580 and Reg. 7-200.4 and seek suspensions and revocations.<sup>1</sup>

- a. *The Penalty Guidelines represent the Department's construction of the laws it is charged to administer and enforce as well as the Department's long-standing administrative practice; as such, the Penalty Guidelines are entitled to the utmost consideration and deference.*

The South Carolina Supreme Court adopted the deference doctrine from United States Supreme Court precedent, which provides that “[t]he construction given to a statute by those charged with the duty of exercising it is always entitled to the most respectful consideration, and ought not to be overruled without cogent reasons.” Kiawah Development Partners, II v. South Carolina Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control, 411 S.C. 16, 33, 766 S.E.2d 707, 718 (2014) (quoting Read Phosphate Co. v. South Carolina Tax Comm’n, 169 S.C. 314, 330, 168 S.E. 722, 728 (1933)). See also CFRE, LLC v. Greenville County Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 77, 716 S.E.2d 877, 882 (2010) (“The construction of a statute by the agency charged with its administration will be accorded the most respectful consideration and will not be overruled absent compelling reasons”); Media Gen. Commc’ns v. South Carolina Dep’t of Revenue, 388 S.C. 138, 150, 694 S.E.2d 525, 530-31 (2010)

---

<sup>1</sup>It is important to note that, if imposed, a revocation is not a permanent revocation, where a permit holder can never seek a permit or license from the Department in the future. In Respondent’s case, if the Court were to impose the revocation sought by the Department, this would simply make the Respondent ineligible to receive another retail beer and wine permit for two (2) years from the date of revocation. See S.C. Code Ann. 61-4-520(3) (2009). A revocation which is not permanent is in line with the spirit and purpose behind the Department’s administrative penalties, which is to deter and not to punish.

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