THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Honorable S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 16-ALJ-17-0221-CC
Case No. 17-ALJ-17-0113-CC
Appellate Case No. 2017-002568

RECEIVED
MAY 23 2018
SC Court of Appeals

South Carolina Department of RevenueAppellant,

v.

Bi-Lo, LLC, d/b/a Bi-Lo #5612Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Zoe C. Sanders 0064989
Alexander M. Sanders, Jr. 0004921
The Sanders Law Firm of South Carolina, LLC
1513 Hampton Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Phone: (803) 960-3109
Email: zoesanders@alexsanderslaw.com
Attorneys for Respondent
Bi-Lo, d/b/a Bi-Lo 5612

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

ARGUMENT

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT DID NOT ERR IN IMPOSING PENALTIES LESSER THAN THOSE SOUGHT BY THE DEPARTMENT.

As the Department of Revenue (Department) stated in its initial brief, in an appeal from the decision of an Administrative Law Court (ALC), the Administrative Procedures Act (APA) provides the appropriate standard of review. *S.C. Dep't of Revenue v. Meenaxi, Inc.*, 417 S.C. 639, 648, 790 S.E.2d 792, 796 (Ct. App. 2016); *South Carolina Dep't of Revenue v. Meenaxi, Inc.*, 417 S.C. 639, 648, 790 S.E.2d 792, 796 (Ct. App. 2016); *Olson v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 379 S.C. 57, 63, 663 S.E.2d 497, 500-501 (Ct. App. 2008). This standard is set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) as follows:

(B) The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;

- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

In reaching a decision in a contested violation matter, the ALC serves as the sole finder of fact in the de novo contested case proceeding. *Charleston Cty. Assessor v. Univ. Ventures, LLC*, 421 S.C. 194, 202, 805 S.E.2d 216, 221 (Ct. App. 2017). The Rules of Procedure for the Administrative Law Court (SCALC) and, where practicable, the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and Appellate Court Rules apply to proceedings before the ALC, SCALC Rule 68; see S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-650(C); *Risher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 208, 712 S.E.2d 428 (2011) and n. 5 712 S.E.2d 428, 433 and n. 5 (2011). As an administrative agency, the ALC is the fact-finder and it is the ALC's prerogative to impose an appropriate penalty based on the facts presented. *S.C. Dep't of Revenue v. Meenaxi, Inc.*, 417 S.C. at 662, 790 S.E.2d at 804. The decision of the ALC should not be overturned unless it is not supported by substantial evidence or controlled by some error of law. *Charleston Cty. Assessor v. Univ. Ventures, LLC*, 421 S.C. 194, 203, 805 S.E.2d 216, 221 (Ct. App. 2017). "Substantial evidence" is

'evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached.' " *Southeast Res. Recovery, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 358 S.C. 402, 407, 595 S.E.2d 468, 470 (2004) (quoting *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 135, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981)). "[T]he possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's finding from being

supported by substantial evidence.” *Palmetto Alliance, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 282 S.C. 430, 432, 319 S.E.2d 695, 696 (1984).

Risher v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control, 393 S.C. 198, 210, 712 S.E.2d 428, 434 (2011).

In this case, the Department’s contention that the ALC abused its discretion when it ordered the penalties at issue here, which are lesser than the penalties sought by the Department, is completely without merit. (*See* Initial Brief of Appellant at 6). The penalty assessed by the ALC was within the range of penalties authorized by statute, as well as the advisory guidelines by the Department, based on mitigating circumstances. Similarly, the Department’s contention that the ALC’s reduction of the penalties recommended by the Department was “based upon improper consideration of non-mitigating, irrelevant circumstances” is devoid of merit. (*See* Initial Brief of Appellant at 6). There is no authority to support the Department’s contention. The ALC did not depart from South Carolina law or even the Department’s advisory penalty guidelines, which do not limit the type of mitigating circumstances that may be considered in assessing a penalty below the advisory guidelines penalties.

A. The Administrative Law Court Did Not Err In Relying On Mitigating Circumstances In Imposing Penalties Lesser Than Those Sought By The Department

1. Waiver

Before addressing the merits of the Department’s argument, Respondent respectfully submits that the Department has waived the issue it raises in this appeal. The Department states the issue presented in this appeal as: “Did the Administrative Law Court

err by relying on non-mitigating circumstances to justify a departure from the penalties imposed by Title 61 and the Department's Penalty Guidelines...?" (Initial Brief of Appellant at 1). More specifically, the Department contends that remedial measures and the negative economic impact a suspension or revocation would have on the store and its employees, as well as the impact it would have on the community, are not valid mitigating circumstances that the ALC may consider. (Initial Brief of Appellant 19, 21-27). Although the Department has argued various other points in its brief that are unrelated to the its "STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL", the issue it expressly raises is whether the ALC relied on valid mitigating circumstances. As will be discussed below, the clear answer, based on the applicable statutes, regulations and Advisory Revenue Procedures is that the ALC did rely on valid mitigating circumstances. Initially, however, Respondent submits that the Department has waived this issue. Issues not raised to and ruled on by the ALC are not presented for appellate consideration. *See Brown v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 348 S.C. 507, 519, 560 S.E.2d 410, 417 (2002); *Home Med. Sys., Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 556, 562, 677 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2009). As explained in *S.C. Dep't of Motor Vehicles v. Dover*, No. 2016-001030, 2018 WL 1403624 at n. 3 (S.C. Ct. App. Mar. 21, 2018), the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Risher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 208, 712 S.E.2d 428, 433 (2011), has held that an appellant's failure to file a motion for reconsideration or a motion to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to SCALC Rules 29 or 68 or Rules 59(e) or 60, SCRCP, renders review of an issue first arising from the ALC's final order unpreserved for the supreme court's review.

Here, Respondent never objected to the ALC's consideration of the foregoing mitigating circumstance at the hearing or by motion following the ALC's final order. In its opening statement addressing what would be a "just penalty for these third and final violations", Bi-Lo's counsel stated that Bi-Lo would show that a 45-day suspension would have a "drastic monetary impact on Bi-Lo" and "would not only harm Bi-Lo as a corporation, but will actually harm the employees and the community of Fountain Inn." (R. p. 27, lines 20-22; p. 8, lines 5-13) Respondent was thus put on notice of some of the mitigating circumstances Bi-Lo would raise and claim warranted only a brief suspension rather than a 45-day suspension or revocation. Bi-Lo then presented its witnesses who testified to the economic and other impacts of a revocation or long suspension on the company, its employees and the community, as well as to other matters in mitigation, such as remedial measures taken. (R. pp. 60-65, 71-72, 88-93).

The Department made no objection to this testimony, and in its closing argument did not even suggest that the economic and other impact to the community would not be proper circumstances for mitigation (although it did point out what it considered inconsistencies in the testimony about sales numbers) (R. pp. 97-100.) In its closing argument, Bi-Lo specifically referred to the testimony pertaining to the negative impact a suspension or revocation would have on the store, its employees and the community in arguing for a lesser penalty. (R. pp. 100-103, 109.) Again, the Department made no objection to such argument, even when the ALC suggested he might be "inclined to explore other possible options other [sic] revocation of their license" and asked about training options available if he "decid[ed] not to revoke the license of the – or to – or to pull the

Department's determination the license should not be revoked in this matter, if I direct a different course..." (R. pp. 106, 108). And, of course, Respondent made no post-final decision motions.

Therefore, as the authority cited indicates, the Department has failed to preserve the issue it now raises on appeal. In any case, the Department's argument is without merit.

2. The Substantial Evidence On The Record And The Applicable Law Support The Penalties Imposed By The ALC

The Department's argument that the ALC abused its discretion in imposing the penalties it did and that the substantial evidence and applicable law do not support such penalties is completely devoid of merit. The ALC was authorized to depart from the penalty sought by the Department and impose a penalty below the Guidelines Penalties based on mitigating circumstances.

As explained in *S.C. Dep't of Revenue v. Sandalwood Soc. Club*, 399 S.C. 267, 278, 731 S.E.2d 330, 336 (Ct. App. 2012), the Department is charged with the responsibility of administering and enforcing the laws and regulations governing the manufacture and sale of alcoholic beverages, including beer, wine, and alcoholic liquors. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-20. " 'Contested case hearings arising under the provisions of [Title 61, Alcohol and Alcoholic Beverages] must be heard by the [ALC] pursuant to the South Carolina Revenue Procedures Act and the [APA].' S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-260 (2009)." *Sandalwood Social Club, id.*

The Department has the authority to determine an appropriate administrative penalty within the statutory limits established by the legislative, after the parties have had

an opportunity for a hearing on the issues. *Sandalwood Social Club*, *id.* at 278-79, 731 S.E.2d at 336. Further, in assessing a penalty, the Department should give effect to the major purpose of a civil penalty, which is deterrence. *Id.* at 279, 731 S.E.2d at 336; *see* S.C. Revenue Procedure # 13-2 (“The Department recognizes that insurance compliance with the law, not punishment, is the reason for administrative penalties.”)

S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(A)(1) provides that

(A) No holder of a permit authorizing the sale of beer or wine or a servant, agent, or employee of the permittee may knowingly commit any of the following acts upon the licensed premises covered by the holder’s permit:

(1) sell beer or wine to a person under twenty-one years of age;

“[A] violation of any provision of this section is a ground for the revocation or suspension of the holder’s permit.” *Id.* subsection (B); *see* S.C. Code Ann. Regulation 7-200-4. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-250, the Department “may, in its discretion, impose a monetary penalty upon the holder of a beer or wine because in lieu of a suspension or revocation.” Thus, under the applicable statutes, the punishments authorized for selling beer or wine to underaged persons ranges from revocation or suspension to a monetary penalty, with no mandatory length for any suspensions imposed. The penalty imposed by the ALC in this case was obviously within this statutory range and therefore was not an abuse of discretion or based on an error of law. *See S.C. Dep’t of Revenue v. Meenaxi, Inc.*, 417 S.C. 639, 662–664, 790 S.E.2d 792, 804–805 (Ct. App. 2016).

South Carolina Revenue Procedure #13-2 setting forth advisory Penalty Guidelines does not alter this conclusion. As discussed in *S.C. Dep’t of Revenue v. Meenaxi, Inc.*, *id.* at 662-63, 790 S.E.2d 792 at 804 (2016), South Carolina Revenue Procedure #13-2

“provides guidelines to be used by Department employees in assessing penalties for violation of the statutes and regulations governing the sale, distribution, or possession of beer, wine, and distilled spirits.” The Procedure is an “advisory opinion” and the penalties it sets forth are “guidelines only” and do “not establish a binding norm”, and “do not restrict the Department’s authority to impose any sanction within the statutory authority granted by the General Assembly.” Revenue Procedure #13-2 (footnote omitted); *see Meenaxi, id.* S.C. Revenue Procedure #13-2 recognizes that “[t]here will often be circumstances present that call for either more severe or less severe sanctions for an offense.” It further provides that “the Department will consider mitigating circumstances when assessing penalties for sales to underage persons, and may reduce any penalty outlined in the advisory opinion when mitigating circumstances exist.” S.C. Revenue Procedure #13-2. Specifically, suspensions may be reduced in duration, and revocations may be reduced to suspensions with monetary penalties. *Id.*; *see S.C. Dep’t of Revenue v. Meenaxi, Inc.*, 417 S.C. at 663, 790 S.E.2d at 804.

In light of the express provisions of Revenue Procedure #13-2 granting discretion to impose any sanction authorized by statute, as well as its express advisory nature, it did not require the ALC to impose a penalty set forth in its guidelines, even if no mitigating circumstances existed. But, of course, the ALC found that there was mitigating circumstances. The ALC referred to the guidelines and recognized that it was within its discretion to apply a certain set of mitigating circumstances and reduce the penalties imposed on a permit holder by the Department. Order p. 8-9. The ALC, therefore, acted

well within its discretion in imposing penalties not as severe as those sought by the Department.

In *S.C. Dep't of Revenue v. Meenaxi, Inc.*, the Court held that the ALC did not abuse its discretion in imposing the penalty it chose where the penalty imposed was within the range of penalties authorized by S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580 (and was the penalty prescribed by the Department in Revenue Procedure #13-2). *Meenaxi, id.* at 663-64, 790 S.E.2d at 805. Here, too, the penalty imposed by the ALC was within the range of penalties authorized by S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580 and by the advisory opinion of Revenue Procedure #13-2. Therefore, the ALC did not err in imposing the penalties at issue.

There is also no merit to the Department's contention that the substantial evidence did not support the mitigating circumstances found by the ALC. This contention is raised only in a footnote by the Department. (Initial Brief of Appellant at 25 n. 8). Contrary to the Department's claim, the evidence, as presented through Bi-Lo's witnesses at the hearing, amply support the ALC's findings of facts and conclusion of law regarding the mitigating circumstances found by the ALC. Respondent's Statement of Facts cites to such testimony. Therefore, the mitigating circumstances relied on by the ALC were supported by substantial evidence.

3. The Department's Argument Pertaining To The "Construction" Of The Penalty Guidelines Is Inapposite And Without Merit

The Department's discussion pertaining to the deference to be afforded construction given to a statute by the agency charged with the duty of exercising it, *see e.g. Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 411 S.C. 16, 33, 766 S.E.2d 707,

718 (2014), is inapposite. There is no issue of statutory or regulatory construction in this case.

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